SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

NOV - 7 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

THE PEOPLE,) Case No.: S192513
Plaintiff and Respondent,)
VS.	Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District No.:
ANTOINE J. McCULLOUGH,) C064982)
Defendant and Appellant.))

Sacramento County Superior Court No. 09F08232 The Honorable, Judge Steve White

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DANALYNN PRITZ, ESQ. (SBN 164488)

LAW OFFICES OF PRITZ & ASSOCIATES

PRITZ.ASSOCIATES@VERIZON.NET

3625 East Thousand Oaks Blvd., Suite 176 Westlake Village, California 91362

Phone: (805) 496-8336

Fax: (805) 496-8226

Attorneys for Defendant / Appellant ANTOINE J. McCULLOUGH

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Pursuant to this Court's order granting review:

This case presents the following issue: Did defendant forfeit his claim that he was unable to pay the \$270.17 jail booking fee (Gov. Code, §29550.2) imposed by the trial court at sentencing, because he failed to object at the time?¹

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

At approximately 11:30 p.m. on November 8, 2009, Sacramento County Sheriff's Deputies Greg Saunders, Chris Maher, and Sergeant Ken Rickett were driving an unmarked vehicle in the area of Park Drive and Croetto Way, in the City of Rancho Cordova. (1RT 3-4.)

http://appellatecases.courtinfo.ca.gov/search/case/mainCase Screen.cfm?dist=0&doc_id=1977285&doc_no=S192513 (as of 9/15/11).

They were serving warrants that evening, and they had one for a man named Deleono Anthony. (1RT 4-5.) Deputy Saunders saw appellant, Antoine J. McCullough, standing in front of the address they had on file for Mr. Anthony. Deputy Maher asked Mr. McCullough if he was on probation or parole, and Mr. McCullough told him he was on parole. (1RT 17.) As the deputies approached Mr. McCullough, he said, "I have a pistol in my pocket." (1RT 7.) Deputy Saunders found a .44 magnum handgun loaded with six rounds of live ammunition in Mr. McCullough's jacket pocket. (1RT 7.)

In an amended felony complaint, Mr. McCullough was charged with one count of being an ex-felon in possession of a firearm (count 1: Pen. Code, §12021, subd. (a)(1)²), one count of unlawfully carrying a concealed firearm (count 2: §12025, subd. (b)(6)), and one count of unlawfully carrying a loaded firearm (count 3: §12031, subd. (a)(2)(F)). The amended complaint further alleged that Mr. McCullough served three prior prison terms, within the meaning of section 667.5, subdivision (b). (CT 22-24.)

On January 13, 2011, following the preliminary hearing, and the denial of his motion to suppress evidence (§1538.5), Mr. McCullough entered a plea of not guilty and denied the prior convictions alleged in the amended complaint, now deemed to be the information. (1RT 29.) The court asked Mr. McCullough, "[S]ir, can you afford a lawyer at this point?" Mr. McCullough responded, "No." (1RT 29.) The court "reappointed" the public defender and advised Mr. McCullough, "If it's

² All further statutory references are to the Penal Code, unless otherwise indicated.

later determined that you can afford some or all of your legal representation, that will be charged against you." (*Ibid.*)

Defense counsel then advised the trial court that Mr. McCullough wanted to settle his case. After a discussion among the court and counsel, Mr. McCullough entered a plea of no contest to one count of being an ex-felon in possession of a firearm (count 1: §12021, subd. (a)(1)), and he admitting having served one prior prison term, in exchange for a dismissal of the remaining two counts and two other prison term enhancements (§667.5, subd. (b)).

When the court advised Mr. McCullough of the consequences of his plea, it told him that in addition to a restitution fine, "[t]here will be other fees related to being processed through the justice system which I'll detail at the time of the sentencing should you enter this plea." (1RT 32-33.) Mr. McCullough said he understood. (1RT 33.)

After Mr. McCullough entered his plea, he waived his right to a referral to the probation department for the preparation of a report, and requested immediate sentencing. (1RT 35.) Pursuant to the stipulated disposition, the court sentenced Mr. McCullough to serve four years in state prison, the upper term of three years on count 1, plus one year for the prison prior (§667.5, subd. (b)). The court then imposed fees and fines. It began with a restitution fine of \$800. Defense counsel immediately interjected, "You honor, we would ask the court to impose the minimum of \$200 restitution amount. [¶] Mr. McCullough indicated he is on a fixed income." (1RT 36.) The court rejected counsel's request. "If it turns out he is unable to pay that," the court reasoned, "he will not be required to pay that if he can't make the payment. However, it first needs to be determined whether he can make the payment. The amount I've set will remain. That is

a relatively low amount." (1RT 36.) The court then imposed additional fees, including, but not limited to, "a \$270.17 main jail booking fee[.]" (1RT 36, hereinafter the "booking fee".) There was no further objection by defense counsel.

The Third District Court of Appeal granted appellant's request for relief from untimely filing the notice of appeal, and appellant's notice of appeal and request for a certificate of probable cause, which was granted, was deemed timely filed on June 8, 2010. (1CT 34-38.)

In his direct appeal before the Third Appellate District, appellant contended that the evidence was insufficient to support the trial court's implied finding of his ability to pay the booking fee, a requirement of Government Code section 29550.2. Appellant contended that his claim – based on insufficiency of the evidence – was not forfeited by his failure to object at the time of sentencing.

In the published portion of the opinion, the Court of Appeal held that appellant "forfeited his challenge to the booking fee by failing to object in the trial court." (People v. McCullough (2011) 193 Cal.App.4th 864, 866, review granted June 29, 2011, S192513 (McCullough).) The Court of Appeal relied on its previous decisions in People v. Crittle (2007) 154 Cal.App.4th 368 (Crittle), People v. Hodges (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 1348 (Hodges), and People v. Gibson (1994) 27 Cal.App.4th 1466 (Gibson), and disagreed with the decision in People v. Pacheco (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 1392 (Pacheco), which relied on People v. Viray (2005) 134 Cal.App.4th 1186 (Viray), and People v. Lopez (2005) 129 Cal.App.4th 1508 (Lopez), to hold that in order to preserve a challenge to the booking fee, a defendant must object in the trial court. Appellant relied on, but the reviewing court

distinguished this Court's decision in *People v. Butler* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1119 (*Butler*), which involved the question of whether a defendant who fails to object at sentencing forfeits his right to contest the sufficiency of the evidence of probable cause underlying an order to submit to HIV testing. (*McCullough*, *supra*, 193 Cal.App.4th at p. 868.) *Butler* held that the general rules of forfeiture discussed in *People v. Stowell* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1107 (*Stowell*), and *People v. Scott* (1994) 9 Cal.4th 331, 348 (*Scott*), did not bar the defendant from challenging the sufficiency of the evidence of probable cause to support the order for HIV testing. (*Butler*, at p. 1126.)

ARGUMENT

I.

APPELLANT DID NOT FORFEIT HIS CLAIM THAT HE WAS UNABLE TO PAY THE BOOKING FEE, BECAUSE NO OBJECTION IS REQUIRED FOR CLAIMS, SUCH AS THE ONE PRESENTED HERE, BASED ON INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE.

A. <u>Introduction</u>.

Appellant did not forfeit his right to contest his ability to pay the booking fee on appeal. Government Code section 29550.2, which the Court of Appeal found to govern this case, requires a court to make an ability-to-pay finding as a prerequisite to the imposition of the booking fee. (See Arg. I.B., post.) In subsection I.C. appellant will show that under Pacheco, supra, 187 Cal.App.4th 1392, Viray, supra, 134 Cal.App.4th 1186, Lopez, supra, 129 Cal.App.4th 1508, and this Court's decisions in Butler, supra, 31 Cal.4th 1119, and Stowell, supra, 31 Cal.4th 1107, this issue is not forfeited by lack of an Imposition of the booking fee is not a "discretionary objection. sentencing choice" falling within the forfeiture rule articulated in Scott, supra, 9 Cal.4th 331, 348. In subsection I.D. appellant will show why the Court of Appeal's decision in this case, applying the forfeiture doctrine, is unsound and should not be affirmed by this Court. Finally, appellant contends in Argument II. that even if this court finds the traditional forfeiture rules apply to the booking fee, the issue was not forfeited in this case, because counsel did object to the imposition of the restitution fine and, once the court overruled that objection, further objection from counsel would have been futile.

B. The Applicable Booking Fee Statute.

Government Code section 29550.2, subdivision (a) provides, in pertinent part, "[a]ny person booked into a county jail pursuant to any arrest by any governmental entity not specified in Section 29550 or 29550.1 is subject to a criminal justice administration fee for administration costs incurred in conjunction with the arresting and booking if the person is convicted of any criminal offense relating to the arrest and booking. . . . The fee which the county is entitled to recover pursuant to this subdivision shall not exceed the actual administrative costs, as defined in subdivision (c), including applicable overhead costs as permitted by federal Circular A 87 standards, incurred in booking or otherwise processing arrested persons. If the person has the ability to pay, a judgment of conviction shall contain an order for payment of the amount of the criminal justice administration fee by the convicted person. . . . " (Italics added.)

The Legislature's use of the word "if" in the italicized portion of Government Code section 29550.2, subdivision (a), quoted above, makes the ability-to-pay finding a condition precedent to imposition of the booking fee. The word "if" implies a condition on which something depends. Thus, imposition of the booking fee is dependent upon a finding of ability-to-pay.

"In construing any statute, we first look to its language. [Citation.] Words used in a statute... should be given the meaning they bear in ordinary use. [Citations.] If the language is clear and unambiguous there is no need for construction, nor is it necessary to resort to indicia of the intent of the Legislature...! [Citation.]" (People v. Zambia (2011) 51 Cal.4th 965, 972, internal quotations

omitted.) "'If the [statutory] language is unambiguous, we presume the Legislature meant what it said, and the plain meaning of the statute controls. [Citations.]' " (*People v. Anderson* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 19, 29.) Under these familiar cannons of statutory construction, if a defendant has the ability to pay, a court may impose the booking fee, but "if" and only "if" there is sufficient evidence of his or her ability-to-pay.

C. Pacheco, Viray, Lopez, Butler and Stowell Support the Conclusion That A Challenge to the Sufficiency of the Evidence to Support The Trial Court's Implied Finding of Ability-to-Pay the Booking Fee Is Not Forfeited By A Lack of Objection.

1. <u>Pacheco.</u>

In Pacheco, supra, 187 Cal.App.4th 1392, the Sixth District Court of Appeal squarely addressed the question of whether a defendant who fails to object to the imposition of a booking fee, based on a claim of insufficient evidence to support the trial court's implied finding of ability-to-pay, forfeits the claim on appeal. Pacheco found that the defendant's claims were not forfeited. "We have already held that such claims [based on insufficiency of the evidence] do not require assertion in the court below to be preserved on appeal. (People v. Viray (2005) 134 Cal.App.4th 1186, 1217 [challenge to order to reimburse attorney fees based on insufficiency of evidence may be first asserted on appeal]; see also People v. Lopez (2005) 129 Cal.App.4th 1508, 1536-1537 [challenge to conditional order to pay attorney fees 'if appropriate' with no referral for ability to pay determination may be raised for first time on appeal].)" (Pacheco, at p. 1397.)

2. <u>Viray.</u>

In Viray, the court reversed an order to pay attorney's fees based on insufficient evidence of the defendant's ability to pay the fees, and because, "[t]he order . . . [was] entirely unsupported by evidence that the amount requested by the public defender, and allowed without opposition, represent[ed] the actual costs to the county of the services provided to defendant." (Viray, supra, 134 Cal.App.4th at p. 1217.)

Presiding Justice Rushing, writing for the majority of the Sixth District Court of Appeal in Viray, found that because the defendant's contentions on appeal went to the sufficiency of the evidence to support the order imposing attorney's fees (§987.8), "[s]uch a challenge requires no predicate objection in the trial court. (People v. Butler (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1119, 1126, quoting Tahoe National Bank v. Phillips (1971) 4 Cal.3d 11, 23, ['Generally, points not urged in the trial court cannot be raised on appeal. . . . The contention that a judgment is not supported by substantial evidence, however, is an obvious exception'].)" (Viray, at p. 1217, internal quotations omitted.)

3. <u>Lopez.</u>

In Lopez, supra, 129 Cal.App.4th 1508, the defendant challenged the trial court's order to pay \$1,000 in attorney's fees. (Id. at p. 1536.) Although the defendant did not object at sentencing, his contention on appeal was that there was no substantial evidence to support the implied finding of his ability-to-pay, or to overcome the presumption that defendant, who had been sentenced to prison, was unable to pay his public defender. (Id. at pp. 1536-1537.) The Sixth District Court of Appeal rejected the Attorney General's assertion that the claim was forfeited. The court found that "the sufficiency of the

evidence to support a finding is an objection that can be made for the first time on appeal. (People v. Rodriguez (1998) 17 Cal.4th 253, 262; People v. Jones (1988) 203 Cal.App.3d 456, 461, disapproved on another ground by People v. Tenner (1993) 6 Cal.4th 559, 566, fn. 2.)" (Lopez, at p. 1537.)³

4. Butler.

a. The Reasoning and Decision in Butler.

In Butler, supra, 31 Cal.4th 1119, the trial court ordered the defendant to submit to HIV testing, pursuant to section 1202.1, subdivisions (a) and (e)(6)(A), but it did not make an express finding of probable cause. "On appeal, defendant challenged the testing order as unlawful. The Attorney General contended the issue was forfeited 'because it requires a factual determination and was not raised at trial.' "(Butler, at p. 1124.) The Court of Appeal rejected the Attorney General's argument on the basis of both "'[t]he failure of the court to make the required finding and the lack of any evidence on the record to support such a finding. . . . 'Since 'there is nothing in the record to suggest even a possibility that bodily fluids were transferred,' [the Court of Appeal] determined the order was 'unauthorized.' "(Ibid.)

This Court in *Butler* noted that "[i]n the companion case of *People v. Stowell* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1107, [the court] conclude[d] that, absent a timely objection, a defendant may not challenge such an order on appeal for lack of an express finding of probable cause or a notation of such finding in the docket." (*Butler, supra,* 31 Cal.4th at

³ Viray, supra, 134 Cal.App.4th 1186 and Lopez, supra, 129 Cal.App.4th 1508 are discussed more in the next section of the brief. (Arg. §I.D.2., post.)

p. 1123.) In *Butler*, however, the court was called upon to "determine whether a defendant also forfeits any challenge for insufficiency of the evidence to support a finding of probable cause if he has failed to make an appropriate objection in the trial court." (*Ibid.*)

This court held that a claim based on insufficiency of the evidence was not forfeited on appeal. (Butler, supra, 31 Cal.4th at p. 1123.) "We conclude that since involuntary HIV testing is strictly limited by statute and Penal Code section 1202.1 conditions a testing order upon a finding of probable cause, a defendant may challenge the sufficiency of the evidence even in the absence of an objection. Without evidentiary support the order is invalid. We therefore affirm the judgment of the Court of Appeal." (Butler, at p. 1123.)⁴

Butler found that while generally points not urged in the trial court cannot be raised on appeal, "'[t]he contention that a judgment is not supported by substantial evidence, however, is an obvious exception.' (Tahoe National Bank v. Phillips (1971) 4 Cal.3d 11, 23, fn. 17.) This principle of appellate review is not limited to judgments, and we conclude it should apply to a finding of probable cause pursuant to section 1202.1, subdivision (e)(6)." (Butler, supra, 31 Cal.4th at p. 1126, fn. omitted.) In reaching this conclusion, the Court reasoned that, "[t]he fact that a testing order is in part based on factual findings does not undermine this conclusion. Probable cause is an objective legal standard[.]" (Id. at p. 1127.) The court cited several cases where

⁴ However, the Court concluded that defendant's contentions that the trial court did not make an express finding of probable cause, or enter the appropriate notation in the docket or minute order, were forfeited under *Stowell*, *supra*, 31 Cal.4th 1107, 1113-1116. (*Butler*, *supra*, 31 Cal.4th at p. 1123.)

other courts considered issues involving "factual findings" on appeal, and found:

[T]hese principles of appellate review apply to Penal Code section 1202.1[.] [I]f the trial court orders testing without articulating its reasons on the record, the appellate court will presume an implied finding of probable cause. [Citation.] Nevertheless, because the terms of the statute condition imposition on the existence of probable cause, the appellate court can sustain the order only if it finds evidentiary support, which it can do simply from examining the record. Moreover, even if the prosecution could have established probable cause, in the absence of sufficient evidence in the record, the order is fatally compromised. [Citations.] Indeed, even in the case of an express finding of probable cause, the question - being one of law rather than fact - would be considered de novo on appeal.

(Butler, supra, 31 Cal.4th at p. 1127, citations omitted.)

b. The Reasoning of Butler Applies to the Booking Fee.

The reasons given by this Court for allowing a defendant to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence of probable cause underlying an HIV testing order for the first time on appeal (*Butler*, *supra*, 31 Cal.4th at p. 1127), apply to the booking fee.

1. When the Court Does Not State its Reasons.

As with an order imposing HIV testing, if the trial court imposes a booking fee without articulating its reasons on the record, the appellate court will presume an implied finding of ability-to-pay. A trial court's determination of a defendant's ability-to-pay need not be express, but may be implied through the content and conduct of the

hearing. (Pacheco, supra, 187 Cal.App.4th at p. 1398.) On a silent record, such as here, the reviewing court presumes the trial court regularly performed its official duties and made the requisite findings necessary to uphold the order under consideration. (See e.g., People v. Moran (1970) 1 Cal.3d 755, 762; People v. Mosley (1997) 53 Cal.App.4th 489, 496; Evid. Code, §664.)

This principle is routinely applied in the context of imposing, or not imposing fees or fines which require an ability-to-pay finding. For example, in *People v. Clark* (1992) 7 Cal.App.4th 1041, 1050, where a drug program fee (Health & Saf. Code, §11372.7) was imposed but the record was silent as to the defendant's ability to pay, the Court of Appeal presumed the trial court found the defendant had the ability to pay the fee. On a similarly silent record, the Court of Appeal in People v. Martinez (1998) 65 Cal.App.4th 1511, 1516-1518, held that a judgment that fails to impose the drug program fee is not a legally unauthorized judgment because it is presumed the trial court found the defendant did not have the ability to pay. (See also e.g., People v. Burnett (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 257, 261 ["[o]n a silent record, we presume the trial court determined that defendant did not have the ability to pay and thus should not be compelled to pay the fine [under section 290.3]"]; People v. Phillips (1994) 25 Cal.App.4th 62, 71 [upholding imposition of probation costs (§1203.1b) based on implicit finding of ability of pay]; People v. Castellanos (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 1524, 1531 ["implicit in the imposition of the \$10 section 1202.5, subdivision (a) fine is the trial court's finding defendant had the ability to pay"].) Therefore, like an HIV testing order, if the trial court orders a booking fee without making an express finding of ability-to-pay, a reviewing court will presume an implied finding of ability-to-pay.

2. The Booking Fee And HIV Testing Order Statutes Condition Imposition of the Order On a Finding of Fact.

As with the HIV testing order in *Butler* (§1202.1), which is conditioned upon a finding of probable cause, imposition of the booking fee is conditioned upon a finding of ability-to-pay. As set forth above, under Government Code section 29550.2 a trial court must find the defendant has the ability-to-pay as a prerequisite to imposing the booking fee. (Cf. *Butler*, *supra*, 31 Cal.4th at p. 1123; Arg. I.B., ante.)

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