SUPREME COURT FILED

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

JAN - 6 2012

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Deputy

Case No. S192513

ANTOINE MCCULLOUGH,

Defendant and Appellant.

Appellate District Third, Case No. C064982 Sacramento County Superior Court, Case No. 09F08232 The Honorable Steve White, Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Despite Justice Brown's narrowing of the application of the holding in *Butler*, appellant sees the rule vastly differently. His reading of *Butler* results in the conclusion:

Therefore a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence to support a trial court's implied finding of ability-to-pay is appealable in the absence of an objection below, because a finding of ability-to-pay must be supported by substantial evidence and, without evidentiary support, the order is fatally compromised. (*Butler*, *supra*, 31 Cal.4th at pp. 1123, 1127; *In* re K.F. (2009) 173 Cal.App.4th 655, 660-661.)

(AOB 21-22.) Of course such a broad interpretation would make *all* ability-to-pay findings subject to review on appeal despite being otherwise forfeited by absence of an objection so long as the defendant articulated the claim as a "sufficiency of the evidence" error rather than some other type of error. Respondent submits that such an interpretation would create an exception to forfeiture that would swallow the rule.

Certainly, the concurring opinion by Justice Baxter in *Butler*, joined by Justice Chin, did not envision the creation of such a gaping hole in the forfeiture doctrine. Justice Baxter highlighted the narrowness of the court's holding:

[D]espite our ruling today, it remains the case that other sentencing determinations may not be challenged for the first time on appeal, even if the defendant claims that the resulting sentence is unsupported by the evidence. This includes claims that the record fails to demonstrate the defendant's ability to pay a fine (e.g., People v. Valtakis (2003) 105 Cal. App. 4th 1066, 1072; People v. Gibson (1994) 27 Cal. App. 4th 1466, 1468-1469; People v. McMahan (1992) 3 Cal. App. 4th 740, 750; see generally *People v. Scott, supra*, 9 Cal.4th at p. 352, fn. 15) * * * All of these cases are consistent with Scott's observation that "claims deemed waived on appeal involve sentences which, though otherwise permitted by law, were imposed in a procedurally or factually flawed manner." (Scott, supra, 9 Cal.4th at p. 354, italics added.) A "narrow exception" to this general rule exists only for "obvious legal errors at sentencing that are correctable without referring to factual findings in the record or remanding for further findings." (People v. Smith, *supra*, 24 Cal.4th at p. 852.)

Our decision today also confirms that, except for HIV testing ordered under Penal Code section 1202.1, we generally will not extend the rules governing challenges to the factual sufficiency of criminal convictions or civil judgments to challenges to the factual sufficiency of orders made at

sentencing. As the Court of Appeal has explained, "[a] challenge to the sufficiency of evidence to support the imposition of a restitution fine to which defendant did not object is not akin to a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, to which defendant necessarily objected by entering a plea of not guilty and contesting the issue at trial." (*People v. Gibson, supra*, 27 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1468–1469.)

(*People v. Butler, supra,* 31 Cal.4th at pp. 1130-1131.)

Justice Baxter and the Court of Appeal in *Gibson* were correct. A challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence to support a *conviction* invokes the defendant's Fourteenth Amendment due process protection against conviction "except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged." (*In re Winship* (1970) 397 U.S. 358, 364.) This right is the very heart of a criminal trial, and that is one reason that many courts review sufficiency of the evidence on appeal in the absence of an objection. (See *State v. Hayes* (2004) 681 N.W.2d 203, 212-214 [examining the policy considerations involved in applying a forfeiture rule to claims of insufficient evidence].) Pacheco's claims and appellant's claims here, on the other hand, involve only statutory rights as granted by California's fee statutes. Simply calling them "insufficiency of the evidence" (AOB 25) cannot elevate these claims to the stature of claims governed by *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, and *Jackson v. Virginia* (1979) 443 U.S. 307.

In addition to his reliance on *Pacheco*, *Viray*, *Lopez* and *Butler*, appellant attempts to distinguish the jail booking fee provision from the Court's numerous holdings applying forfeiture by arguing that the jail booking fee is not "discretionary" nor is it a "sentence" within the purview of *Scott*. Appellant supports his conclusion by relying on the companion case to *Butler*, *People v. Stowell* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1107. (AOB 21-25.) Appellant's analysis is flawed.

Appellant's first premise is that imposing the booking fee is not an exercise of discretion. He reasons that once the "ability to pay" is found, then the trial court imposes the booking fee pursuant to section 29550.2. Appellant contends that the factual determination of ability-to-pay is factually straightforward and something readily reviewable on appeal. (AOB 15-17.) Respondent disagrees. Unlike the factual predicate to the HIV testing provision at issue in Butler [whether bodily fluids were transferred], absent an objection at the sentencing hearing, there may not necessarily be a significant factual record generated regarding ability to pay. In the HIV testing situation, the factual predicate will actually be the underlying facts of the criminal charge. Presumably, those facts related to the transfer of bodily fluids will be readily apparent in the charging document or documents, preliminary hearing and/or trial transcript, any factual basis supplied by the parties in event of plea of guilty or no contest, or in a probation report if one was prepared. In contrast, an ability to pay determination may be based on a defendant's current age and health, education, prospects of future earnings in prison, assets, and any other sources of funds, as well as other fines and fees ordered. Absent a contemporaneous objection and development of the record, the wide range of factors that could be considered in determining an ability to pay do not lend themselves to simple review by appellate court about how a trial judge reached its implied conclusion. (Compare, Valtakis, supra, 105 Cal.4th at p. 1076 [considered defendant's cash in possession upon arrest, health, absence of addiction or incapacity in affirming ability to pay finding]; Viray, supra, 134 Cal. App. 4th at p. 1218 [considered defendant's equity in home, age, prior employment and training, health in reversing ability to pay finding]; People v. Staley (1992) 10 Cal. App. 4th 782, 786 [considered defendant's age, lack of health or disabling factors, prior work history in affirming ability to pay finding].)

Appellant's second premise is that because a recoupment fee, such as that imposed by section 29550.2, is not punishment, its imposition is not a "sentencing" decision as that phrase was used in *Scott*. (AOB 23 ["it does not fall within *Scott*'s rule that 'claims involving the trial court's failure to properly make or articulate its discretionary sentencing choices' raised for the first time on appeal are not subject to appellate review. (*Scott*, *supra*, 9 Cal.4th at p. 353.)"].) Appellant also supports this premise by this Court's observation in *People v. Stowell*, *supra*, noting that since the HIV testing requirement was punishment, the general forfeiture rules for failure to object, rather than *Scott's* rule of forfeiture for failure to object to "sentencing choices" applied. (AOB 36, citing *Stowell*, *supra*, 31 Cal.4th at p. 1113.) Not so.

As noted above, Stowell was the companion case of Butler, as both cases dealt with a trial court's order of HIV testing after conviction of certain sex offenses, under section 1202.1. While Butler dealt with the sufficiency of the evidence of a probable cause determination to support the order, Stowell addressed a challenge to the trial court's failure to state on the record its finding of probable cause and the trial court's failure to note such a finding on the court minutes or docket. (Stowell, supra, 31 Cal.4th at p. 1111.) As explained above, the *Butler* decision declined to invoke forfeiture on the sufficiency of a probable cause determination. However, in Stowell, the Court determined that failure to state its express finding of probable cause in support of the HIV testing either on the record or in the court minutes or docket could both be forfeited. (*Id.* at p. 1113.) The majority opinion declined to invoke the *Scott* "sentencing choices" rationale, observing that since HIV testing was not a punishment, it was not a sentencing choice. However, the majority proceeded to apply a "general forfeiture" principle that foreclosed review of challenges to the trial court's

failure to express or note its probable cause findings. (*Id.* at pp. 1113-1116.)

Justice Baxter in a concurring opinion predicted the likely confusion that would ensue by the majority's use of "punishment" as a litmus test for application of *Scott's* "sentencing choice" forfeiture. He observed:

In my view, the premise does not support the conclusion. Scott nowhere limited itself to punishment and instead referred broadly to "sentencing decisions" (*Scott, supra*, 9 Cal.4th at p. 348), "sentencing choice[s]" (*id.* at p. 352), and just plain old "sentences." (*Id.* at p. 354.)

Moreover, the Scott rule has regularly been applied to bar a defendant from challenging for the first time on appeal other nonpunitive sentencing decisions, such as a trial court's failure to commit a defendant to the California Rehabilitation Center (e.g., People v. Lizarraga (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 689, 692; People v. Planavsky (1995) 40 Cal. App. 4th 1300, 1311-1315) or a trial court's imposition of rehabilitative probation conditions (e.g., In re Josue S. (1999) 72 Cal.App.4th 168, 170-173; People v. Torres (1997) 52 Cal. App. 4th 771, 782-783). Indeed, People v. Marchand (2002) 98 Cal. App. 4th 1056, 1060-1061—which is cited by the majority—applied Scott to bar a defendant from challenging for the first time on appeal a requirement that he register as a sex offender. Sex offender registration, like HIV testing, is nonpunitive. (People v. Ansell (2001) 25 Cal.4th 868, 886; see generally Smith v. Doe (2003) 538 U.S. 84, ——, 123 S.Ct. 1140, 1154, 155 L.Ed.2d 164.)

Accordingly, the line drawn by the majority is illusory. And, inasmuch as the parties agreed at oral argument that the framework set forth in *Scott* applied to this case, it is unnecessary. Finally, in light of the majority's acknowledgement that *Scott* is merely an application of "the general forfeiture doctrine" (maj. opn., ante, 31 Cal.4th at p. 1113), the distinction it purports to draw between the two is mystifying. I therefore concur only in the result.

(Stowell, supra, 31 Cal.4th at p. 1118.) Respondent agrees with Justice Baxter that the distinction between "sentencing choices" of Scott being based on whether they constitute "punishment" as opposed to "general

forfeiture" is an unworkable distinction which poses particular mischief when applied to fees based on ability to pay.

Butler and Stowell notwithstanding, this Court's precedent overwhelmingly supports applying forfeiture to a failure to object to the imposition of ability-to-pay fees. The clear import of the Scott and Welch decisions was the ease and efficiency of handling errors occurring at the sentencing hearing when they arise, rather than standing silently by and waiting to handle them, inefficiently, for the first time on appeal. (Stowell, supra, 31 Cal.4th at p. 1114 ["Strong policy reasons support this rule: 'It is both unfair and inefficient to permit a claim of error on appeal that, if timely brought to the attention of the trial court, could have been easily corrected or avoided. [Citations.]"].) Under appellant's premise, important decisions like selection of the aggravated term from a sentencing triad, imposing a restitution fine above the minimum of \$200, even up to \$10,000, and other punishment related choices, can be forfeited, absent an objection, but more nominal recoupment fees can be raised on appeal without preserving them by objection. Appellant does not explain why such an illogical hierarchy of forfeiture should be created in the first place, and how countenancing such a hierarchy of forfeiture would further the underlying concerns raised in Scott and Welch, and their progeny. Why permit forfeiture of such potentially serious discretionary choices, like more lengthy incarceration or significantly more costly fines, but prohibit forfeiture on more nominal fees?

The bizarre results of appellant's hierarchical approach to forfeiture actually are demonstrated in this very case. In addition to the \$270.17 jail

⁸ See e.g., *People v. de Soto* (1997) 54 Cal.App.4th 1, 8 [imposition of aggravated term]; *People v. Welch; supra*, at p. 236 [imposition of probation conditions]; and *People v. Marchand* (2002) 98 Cal.App.4th 1056, 1060–1061[imposition of sex offender registration condition].)

booking fee, the court imposed an \$800 restitution fine under section 1202.4. (RT 36.) Per statute, the trial court was not permitted to impose an amount above the minimum of \$200, unless the court determined appellant had the ability to pay. (§ 1202.4, subd. (c).) Appellant did not object to the court's imposition of the higher fine nor did he raise the issue on appeal. Under existing authority, appellant is foreclosed from challenging the imposition of the \$800 fine based on "ability to pay" because he did not interpose an objection in the trial court. (See *People v. Nelson, supra*, 51 Cal.4th at p. 227.) Thus, the same "ability to pay" determination would be forfeited with respect to the imposition of the restitution fine, but under appellant's rubric, it would not be forfeited for the "ability to pay" the much lower jail booking fee. Such a result, which inexorably flows from appellant's argument, is illogical and should not be sanctioned by this Court.

In sum, respondent submits that this Court should follow the holdings and rationale articulated in *Valtakis*, *Gibson* and *Hodges*, finding that challenges to "ability-to-pay" determinations are forfeited if not objected to at the sentencing court level. This Court should decline appellant's invitation to adopt the reasoning of *Pacheco*, as that decision's foundations are not well-reasoned based on the uncritical application of *Viray* and *Lopez*. In *Scott* and its progeny, this Court was demanding that defendants

⁹ See respondent's argument II for further discussion of appellant's failure to object to this fine below.

¹⁰ Respondent is aware that section 1202.4 was amended post-Nelson to require the court to consider a defendant's "inability to pay." (Nelson, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 227, fn. 22.) The statutory amendment does not undermine respondent's position that it is illogical that consideration of facts related to the defendant's "inability to pay" would be forfeited while presumably the same consideration of facts related to the defendant's "ability to pay" would not.

raise challenges to permissible choices made at the sentencing proceeding. Any other interpretation results in some trial court choices being forfeited, while other permissible choices are not. Undoubtedly such a result will lead to confusion and to more, rather than fewer, appellate claims that could be readily resolved in the trial court in the first instance. To the extent that the holdings in *Butler* and *Stowell* are read to circumvent the efficiencies and fairness of *Scott* and the cases that followed, they should be expressly limited or overruled, or alternatively not applied to the recoupment fees at issue here.

Appellant failed to object to, or develop in any way, the contention that the trial court's implied finding of ability to pay was unsound.

Appellant's claim should be deemed forfeited and his argument to the contrary rejected.

II. APPELLANT DID NOT OBJECT TO THE COURT'S ABILITY TO PAY DETERMINATION TO AVOID FORFEITURE OF HIS CHALLENGE TO THE SECTION 29550.2 FEE; SUCH A CLAIM WAS NOT RAISED BELOW, AND IS BEYOND THE ISSUE PRESENTED BY THIS PETITION

In his second argument, appellant insists that his request for a reduced restitution fine, under section 1202.4, was an objection to the court's determination of his ability to pay and that this Court therefore should consider this request also as an implied objection to the booking fee under section 29550.2. He then concludes that this implied objection preserved his challenge to the booking fee on appeal. (AOB 42-43.) For several reasons, respondent disagrees.

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